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COMMISSIONER:   Welcome Mr McLean.  I can’t recall your title, Mr McLean, am I correct? 
MR McLEAN:   Sorry? 
COMMISSIONER:   Your title? 
MR McLEAN:   Ja, Mr McLean, thank you. 
COMMISSIONER:   Okay, good, just checking we had it right. You’re welcome to the 
proceedings of the Commission – we tend to use these because the acoustics are pretty poor 
in here.  You are aware that these proceedings are public and that your evidence that you give 
today and may well be put into the public domain? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, I am. 
COMMISSIONER:   You have no objection to that? 
MR McLEAN:   Not at all. 
COMMISSIONER:   Do you have an objection to taking the oath? 
MR McLEAN:   I’ll take affirmation, yes. 
COMMISSIONER:   A solemn affirmation, good. 
ANDREW McLEAN:   (Affirmation) 
COMMISSIONER:   Thank you very much, Ms Bawa? 
EXAMINATION BY MS BAWA:   Good afternoon, Mr McLean. 
MR McLEAN:   Good afternoon. 
MS BAWA:   Thank you for your report.  I want to touch on some of the issues that you deal 
with in the report and would like you to relate that to some of the more international 
experiences that you’re aware of and I mean I don’t think it’s in issue in the evidence before 
the Commission that community policing seems to be the way to police in areas like 
Khayelitsha, would you agree with that? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes I would. 
MS BAWA:   But what does appear from your paper is there seems to be a debate about what 
constitutes community policing.  Could you maybe elaborate on it and say well what kind of 
community policing in your view would be appropriate for Khayelitsha? 
MR McLEAN:    Sure.  Yes, I think community policing has become rather sort of ambiguous 
term which can be use in many contexts, in many different things but I think if I had to put it in 
one sentence it means the police working in partnership with the public to improve safety in 
their community and although it is a sort of contested term I think there’s a broad agreement 
on a few principles which it involves which I think are important ones from what I understand in 
the context of Khayelitsha. 
 The importance of accountability, the police being accountable to the public for the way 
they deliver their service. 



 A principle empowerment, empowering communities to have a voice and say in the way 
that they are policed. 
 Human rights, that the police must have to protect the human rights of the community 
and adhere to human rights  in the way they perform their function. 
 Partnership, that’s safety can only be delivered in partnership with other stakeholders, 
social agencies, other agencies in the criminal justice system as well as the community 
themselves. 
 Important focus on problem-solving, taking a preventative approach to crime and a 
focus on service delivery, the sense that policing is a service has to really imbue the way that 
the police deport themselves and work with the community. 
MS BAWA:   It does also seem from your assessment of the legislative and policy frameworks 
currently in existence that we’ve got the framework to make all of this work.  Do you 
understand your position to be correct? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, I do and I think, you know, South Africa has gone much further than many 
other countries in actually putting these things into legislation policy. 
MS BAWA:   So we’ve got the legislative framework, we’ve got the policies and that then 
brings us to the question of implementation.   
 Now you’ve had the benefit of looking at some of the international experiences on 
implementing community policing and could you maybe talk us through some of the lessons 
that have been learnt internationally that we could benefit from improving our community 
policing in Khayelitsha? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, certainly.  I’ve had the benefit or working in different countries, I lived for a 
number of years in Jamaica and worked there with the Jamaican government and the United 
Stations and have worked on safety and justice programmes in many African countries. 
 I think common problem is that community policing is often seen as something which is 
just done by a portion of the police by community police officers who, if you like, do the sort of 
the softer stuff, the community relations, the community engagement and but how I would see 
it is that community policing is something which has to be done by the police service as a 
whole and that’s been the problem, certainly was a problem for many years in Jamaica was 
that the rest of the police didn’t really see community policing as their job, they were getting on 
with the serious business of fighting crime and were leaving community policing to the 
community relations officers and as a result you weren’t really a difference in the way that 
communities were being policed because whilst on the one hand a certain cadre of officers 
was building relationships with the communities, on the other hand, when the rest of the 
officers went into the communities doing operations they were taking a very, very approach 
and so …(intervention) 
MS BAWA:   Can I interrupt you there? 
MR McLEAN:   Ja. 
MS BAWA:   We heard the evidence of Ms Mtwana this morning where she actually referred to 
a designated community liaison officer at the police station who liaised with the NGO.  Do we 
run into that same kind of danger by taking that kind of approach from a police station point of 
view? 
MR McLEAN:   I think it’s fine if there’s a focal point because it’s always good to know who you 
can pick up the phone to, who you can interact with but it’s important, that if you do that, from 
my experience that that person doesn’t become the sole responsibility.   
 So, for example, if you’re talking about a Community Police Forum meeting then I would 



say it’s imperative that the station commander is there and the sector commanders are there, 
you can’t just leave it, I would suggest, to the designated social or crime prevention of 
community police officer be then it becomes a function which is contracted out to them rather 
than something which the station as a whole takes responsibility for. 
MS BAWA:   I interrupted you, sorry, could you…? 
MR McLEAN:   Okay.  In terms of other lessons, which I would suggest, I think the importance 
of continually building the capacity of community policing structures is very important.  They 
tend to be volunteer structures and there are often challenges in terms of their representation 
and there’s always questions in communities about how representative are they of the 
communities that they purport to represent and I’ve seen different, you know, models used 
trying to ensure representation where you have in some cases say streets or blocks of streets 
electing representatives or in others where representation is more institutional based and I 
think the institutional model is one that’s interesting to look at because one of the things I’ve 
observed from reading some of the testimony before the Commission is that there seems to be 
fairly patchy performance of the Community Police Forums over time, their performance 
seems to have waned, members have dropped out, the times they functioned well, at times 
they’ve gone into abeyance and I wonder if there was a more institutional basis for them and 
by that I mean, for example, is the local (indistinct – speaking fast) fate based organisations 
present on there, are the principals of the school on there, are the leader of the local business 
association, women’s groups, youth groups, because these are the kind of organisations which 
bring with them a certain social capital, they bring with them access to networks in the 
community.  These are often individuals who are experienced at resolving problems with small 
amounts of money and they’re also sometimes are experiencing being able to mobilise 
resources to address problems. 
 And they also have a professional vested interest in achieving a safer community as 
well as a personal interest, so I wonder whether there are some things which could help to 
ensure that some of these structures are more sustainable over time. 
MS BAWA:   Khayelitsha is certainly not a community that’s short of established NGOs or 
schools or religious leaders, I mean, there are a number of those.  Are you suggesting that in 
the inception of a revamped structure of a CPF that a greater initiative be done to draw those 
organisations into it to have a place on the CPF because it’s in line with actually what’s 
proposed in the CPF constitutions. 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, I was interested to see that and from my reading of the constitution it 
seems a good one.  As I understand it, it’s the registered organisations within an area 
nominate members but from some of the testimony I’ve heard it doesn’t seem as if that 
practice has always been necessarily followed in implementation.   
 But yes, I think that would be a good thing to consider, trying to get those institutions 
who in many ways are the building blocks of a community to really get them to be board and 
part of this endeavour. 
 I think another thing to consider is how to then sustain that community engagement over 
time because it’s a difficult thing and it’s not just a challenge which Khayelitsha or even South 
Africa faces, it’s something which has been documented very much in the United Kingdom in 
Northern Ireland, you know, that there was a book that was written about community policing 
talking about meetings taking place in empty rooms. 
 And so even in societies which are comparatively, you know, economically more 
advantaged you have a problem in people giving up their time to take part in something like 



this and in places where I’ve seen community policing work well it has often been associated 
with an agency having responsibility for mobilising that community to actually get involved. 
 So I can give you two examples, in Jamaica the government had an arm called the 
Social Development Commission that had a mandate for community mobilisation for building 
the capacity of community-based organisations and they were trusted by the communities, 
they were seen as being the communities’ friend but they were a government agency and so 
that they had the sort of authority with regard to the police, they had the trust with the police 
and they were able to sign a memorandum of understanding, the two organisations, the police 
and the Social Development Commission had joint responsibility for implementing community 
policing so, if you like, covering both sides of the coin.  So that could be one option.   
 Another option could be whether there are civil society organisations that could take a 
lead in supporting the CPFs to capacitate them to may provide a secretariat function to provide 
assistance in mobilising resources, helping to implement or oversee programmes and again 
I’ve seen that work well in other places as a good way of ensuring sustainability and bringing in 
some additional expertise. 
MS BAWA:   In Jamaica at what level of policing did you require a commitment, at the local 
level, at the higher level, I mean, here we have a tier system of policing where it’s operating 
from a national department, instructing policing downwards and that certainly impacts on 
policing policies going right down. 
MR McLEAN:   Ja. 
MS BAWA:   How does that affect it in Jamaica? 
MR McLEAN:   Well the level at which this memorandum of understanding was signed was at 
national level so it was signed by the Commissioner of Police and the head of the Social 
Development Commission, so it was a national policy that was then implemented locally. 
MS BAWA:   So would you suggest that if we wanted a commitment from the police side it 
would have to be a national commitment down or it could be run locally or provincially? 
MR McLEAN:   I’m not quite sure, a commitment to what, sorry? 
MS BAWA:   To the kinds of the memorandums of agreement you would enter into with 
communities at Khayelitsha.  Would it work if we simply have a Memorandum of Agreement 
between the local police station and the community or does it require the buy-in of higher 
echelons of the police station? 
MR McLEAN:   Right, the particular memorandum of understanding I’m talking about was 
actually between the police and the government Social Development Commission so it’s 
between two government agencies, not actually with the community itself. 
 In the South African context, I mean I’ll be guided by local experts but it would seem I 
would imagine it could be done say between the Department of Community Safety in the 
Western Cape and I know there’s a Department for Social Development, I’m not so aware of 
what its precise mandate is, that could be one possibly.  I’m sure that SAPS would obviously 
have to be, you know, brought into that arrangement as well so it would have to obviously 
address this specific constitutional, you know, nuances here. 
MS BAWA:   And how well have CPFs worked, I mean, probably not called CPFs but CPF-like 
structures work in the long term in other jurisdictions?   
MR McLEAN:   I think the experience shows that they can have a very positive impact on 
building trust and improving accountability and increasing the legitimacy of the police, I think 
there’s mixed experiences in terms of their actual impact on crime and violence, it seems to 
have had a beneficial impact in some context and not in others. 



MS BAWA:   And in which context are they beneficial and in which context are they not? 
MR McLEAN:   Well, in Jamaica, for example, I was just looking at the latest statistics last 
night, actually, just to ensure I was up to date and what’s interesting is that over the last sort of 
eight years there’s been pretty much a year on year decrease in crime and a year on year 
improvement in people’s perceptions of safety in their communities as well as a decrease in 
police corruption and the implementation of community policing is seen as having had a key 
role in that regard.  So I put that forward as a good example.   
 In Kenya, which is another context I know well, community policing hasn’t yet really got 
off the ground and that has been, I think, the main – because where it’s been tried it’s been 
done in individually communities at the local level, it’s had a beneficial impact in those local 
communities but it’s been done really in absence of a national political commitment and a 
national policing commitment to a new approach and so approaches haven’t really been 
sustainable. 
MS BAWA:   You also draw attention to an example in Malawi where it hasn’t worked.  Could 
you elaborate on that? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes.  In Malawi there have been a long history over sort of 15 years or so of 
police reform efforts a lot of which was supported by the British government.  I had the 
opportunity  to go back to Malawi last year to look about four years after the assistance 
programmes had ended to look at what had stuck, if you luck, what changes had actually 
sustained over the time after the assistance ended and what hadn’t been sustained and 
unfortunately there what was found is that the coverage of the community policing structures 
had decreased quite – I think about by two thirds, I think at the highest community policing 
structures covered pretty much the whole country and was seen to be very effective. 

A few years after external funding and support for police ended only about a third of 
those structures actually remained and one of the reasons that we deduce as to maybe why 
that happened was that actually not enough of the sustained partnership had been built with 
local civil society organisations to sustain those structures.   
 So when the – there was too much reliance I think on maybe the police and the external 
support to sustain them and so when that ended there weren’t really the local indigenous 
organisations who were able to provide that continued impetus over time. 
MS BAWA:   Now another one of the examples you take from the international experience is 
the use of community scorecards.  Could you tell us a little bit more about that? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes certainly.  This is something that we trialled in Jamaica when I was 
working in the Ministry of National Security and it seemed to be showing some quite positive 
results but I left a couple of years ago so I’m not quite sure exactly what’s happened 
subsequently but it’s based on really the experience which has been had I know in South 
Africa and many countries of social accountability to service delivery. 
 I think a lot of studies have been done which show that a very good way of improving 
the delivery of services is to try and increase the demand from beneficiaries to service 
providers and that has been shown to have a lot of benefits in the field of health, for example, 
and so the idea was well, policing really can be thought of as a public service in the same way 
that health or education are and so could the same types of models of social accountability be 
applied to those? 
 And so we took this idea of a community scorecard and two sets of indicators were 
developed.  There’s one set which looks at the delivery of policing services and community’s 
perceptions of how the police is doing their job and that looks at issues around how much trust 



does the community have in the police, the level of courtesy and respect which the police 
show, the level of fairness displayed by the police, how responsive are the police when public 
raise concerns, how much effort do the police make to interact with the communities and 
there’s another set of indicators based around empowering, how empowered do communities 
feel to engage with the police, are they able to engage with the police, do they have the right 
information, but also do they feel willing to in that context. 
 And the idea is that essentially this could be quite a low cost way of tracking police 
performance and community police relations over time in a particular context.  I mean surveys I 
think are very important and I notice in the Shabalala report that was a key recommendation 
but they are obviously quite costly and they can take a while to administer.  
 So this concept is built on the idea of panel focus groups and so a suggestion could be 
that in a particular community you could have two types of focus groups, one bringing together 
community leaders of maybe the sort of type that we were discussing previously and another 
maybe bringing together youth and particularly young men because it’s often young men who 
have the closest interaction with the police on a regular basis. 
 And the idea would be that on a monthly or every two monthly basis a neutral third party 
who was trusted both by the police and by the community would sit with those groups in 
private and go through the scorecard and I think there’s’ a copy before the Commission and go 
through these five indicators of service delivery and the five indicators of community 
empowerment and score them as to how they feel, their empowerment is under police 
performance is out of five with one being very poor and five being excellent during that past 
month or two month period. 
 And then findings of those two focus groups would then be brought to an open 
community meeting.  Community members would be invited, the police would be there, 
hopefully the station commander and the sector commanders and the idea is that the results of 
this assessment would be put forward and there would be open discussion facilitated by this 
trusted third party and in Jamaica it was the Social Development Commission, the government 
agency that I mentioned before. 
 And there would have to be a lot of preparatory work done both with the community and 
the police to try and ensure this isn’t adversarial process it’s meant to be constructive, it’s 
meant to be forward looking and the idea would be to acknowledge, you know, where mistakes 
have happened, that there have been problems but most importantly to try and find solutions 
and what is it that the police could do and what is it that the community could do going forward 
to try and ensure that the same issues which have come up in the past period of time don’t 
recur and an action sheet would be drawn up where possible there would be a small pot of 
money available, they could fund some projects so that some concrete steps can be taken and 
then when the group comes together in a month or two’s time you would revisit the action 
agenda, you would see what has been implemented and there would be another process of 
sort of scoring. 
 So essentially if you were to go over a 12 month period you would see that, you know, 
in the community’s eyes police performance has gone up or gone down or it’s been 
inconsistent and you would be able to try and explain, you know, if there are variations, what 
has happened that has actually led to those changes in scoring. 
 So in some ways it’s quite a sort of quick and dirty methodology, you can say, it’s not as 
sophisticated or as rigorous as community surveys but I think it has an advantage of being a 
participatory methodology, it has an advantage of creating a focal point for dialogue, it has an 



advantage of giving the community a voice and ensuring that their concerns are put before the 
Community Policing Forum and before the police and it hopefully has an advantage as well 
ensuring that concrete steps were taken to address problems as they come up and I think it 
could be quite a useful monitoring tool for SAPS, for the Department of Community Safety to 
just track in Khayelitsha over time how a community is going, it’s a barometer, if you like. 
MS BAWA:   Is it the kind of barometer that you’d feed into performance assessments of police 
as well? 
MR McLEAN:   I think to effective that would be the key, so this would be something which I 
would hope, you know, could be taken on board by the human resources department in the 
police, they would be looking at this as just one contribution, you know, one input, into say 
performance assistant appraisals and this was something in Jamaica which we were doing.  
When I was in the Ministry of National Security we were talking with the human resources 
department in the police to get them to take this on board. 
 Now clearly it’s a qualitative measure, this should be the sole thing which, you know, the 
performance of a police commander would be judged upon but I think it’s a useful input, it 
gives an extra dimension, if you like into that monitoring process and when I looked at the 
existing monitoring tools which the civilian secretariat has, this national monitoring tool, the 
extended partnership programme which the Department of Community Safety has.  What 
struck me was this sort of qualitative measure which is actually trying to get a sense as the 
communities feel they are  being policed was rather missing from some of those existing 
frameworks. 
COMMISSIONER:   While we’re just talking about that, one of the things that concerns us is 
the fact that a lot of the measures in the monitoring processes are internally generated so 
they’re around compliance with internal rules, achieving of internal goals but there’s very little 
external assessments into it and, you know, the extent to which you value, for example, your 
relationship with the community, your sense of your reputation for trust and reliability, you can’t 
drive those through performance assessment process unless you have some way of feeding 
them into your first your goal setting and then into your performance agreements with 
managers and then into your performance assessments would you agree with that? 
MR McLEAN:   I would, I would, yes, I think that’s where this could really provide a useful 
additional input, ja. 
MS BAWA:   You also talk about the multi-agency focus and an independent mediator, what 
kind of clout does the agency who drives it got to have in the context of trying to bring different 
agencies together? 
MR McLEAN:   In the context of this scorecard issue? 
MS BAWA:   Ja. 
MR McLEAN:   I think the most important thing which they require is to have the trust and the 
respect of both the community and the police, they have to be seen to be a neutral party who 
isn’t going to really take one side or the other and someone who is skilled facilitating group 
dynamics and is able to turn what could be perceived as a sort of a negative point scoring 
exercise into a constitutive, you know, forward looking problem solving process.  So I think 
that’s the sort of skills set that’s required. 
MS BAWA:   So then it’s got to be driven as a process which is aimed at improving policing 
without attaching any negative consequences to the findings where there are shortfalls? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, I think it’s got to be seen very much as a positive thing, ja. 
MS BAWA:   We heard evidence this morning of service level agreements which had been 



concluded with the VPUU and the Department of Community Safety and service levels 
agreement which had been concluded between the VPUU and the Community Policing 
Forums.   
 Now you also mentioned the Latin American experience of where you talked about the 
important role of different role-players in getting agreements in place.  Can you maybe 
elaborate on that? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, there’s been a lot of success particularly a very well-documented example 
is in Columbia over the last sort of 15 years of significantly reducing murder rates and there’s 
been quite lot of research done as to what has worked in that context and it seemed that a key 
factor was political leadership at the municipality level, local governments and often the office 
of the mayor  has a key role to play.  I just stress this is a different constitutional setup to South 
Africa so I’m not necessarily drawing exact parallels but some leadership was required at the 
local level which was able to galvanise the input of different agencies, have like a sort of 
convening function, the idea of a fulcrum was talked about by the previous witnesses and 
different agencies were mobilised, social services, the police, justice sector, there was 
particular focus on addressing risk factors of crime and risk populations which I know is 
something that’s come up in this community safety plan that was raised by the SAPS advocate 
which I think is a very interesting model. 

So there’s a particular focus on not looking just at developmental issues but if you like 
putting that sort of safety lens on development issues, how can we address the real factors 
under people in communities who both the victims and the perpetrators of crime. 

And there was a lot of focus on data gathering and monitoring to track performance over 
time and in their experience this worked very well. 
MS BAWA:   You also recommended that we look at customer service and people 
management skills training, what would that entail? 
MR McLEAN:   The idea behind that is this concept of procedural justice and I think again it’s 
something which one of the last witnesses brought up.  I mean it’s really – in some way it’s 
counter-intuitive but it’s also a common sense, I think, idea and this is the peoples’ perceptions 
of the police and how legitimate the police are, are shaped more by how the police treat them, 
how fair the police are, how much respect the police shown them than actually by the outcome 
of a particular investigation.  
 So if the police deal with people justly, if they deal with people fairly then people get the 
sense that the police are treating them as equals, they have a sort of common view in society 
whereas if the police talk down to them, are abusive, fail to take action on their complaint that 
is seen to be saying something to that individual about their inclusion and their status in society 
and so if they treat well they will be more – they will feel that – they will trust the police more, 
they’ll be more willing to cooperate, they’ll be more ready to obey the law but if the police treat 
people badly the reverse is true and this is a theory that was developed in America, has been 
very rigorously tested in America and proven to be the case.  Now obviously Khayelitsha is a 
very different context but I think it’s an idea that’s worth considering because if it’s true that 
essentially police legitimacy is not so much linked with actually police effectiveness in 
addressing crime but with how the police treat citizens, that is really a very important finding 
because arguably it’s cheaper and easier to get the police to treat citizens well than it is to 
actually address very complex murder investigations which take a long time to go the court. 
COMMISSIONER:   I mean it seems to have both the principle than a strategic value and the 
principled value is the one that, you know, democracy in which everybody were meant to be 



respect, human dignity, it’s a principle to treat people well but presumably there’s also a 
strategic advantage which is that you’re much more likely to build partnerships and levels of 
communication which is one of the things we’ve seen again and again, inability to establish 
informer networks, the inability to really get information  from the community seems to be 
probably – and this research you were referring to which has been mentioned to the 
Commission before this week a direct factor in building those kind of relationships. If people 
don’t trust you, the last thing they’re likely to do is give you information which they think is 
potentially dangerous and information  would render them vulnerable.  
MR McLEAN:   I think that’s absolutely right and it tallies with my experience in a particularly 
vulnerable community in Jamaica which I think might have some parallels in Khayelitsha 
because it’s a community called Flankers which has a very large …(intervention) 
COMMISSIONER:   Could you spell for the record seeing as how we haven’t all been to 
Jamaica. 
MR McLEAN:   It’s F-l-a-n-k-e-r-s. 
COMMISSIONER:   E-r-s, Flankers. 
MR McLEAN:   It’s near Montego Bay so it’s a Montego Bay – is one of the main sort of tourist 
destinations and famous for that but it has, I suppose in the same that Cape Town is, it has a 
lot of settlements on the outskirts whereas actually the working class population live which are 
very crime-affected and in this particular community of Flankers there a very large informal 
settlement which is growing all the time in the way I understand Khayelitsha is as well as 
having a more regularised  housing area as well and there was severe gang violence in 
Flankers with lots of people having been murdered over a  long period of time and the police 
mobile reserve were called in and the police mobile reserve in Jamaica are sort of the 
paramilitary sort of bit of the police that are called in to deal with riots and so on and are 
normally the most feared unit in the Jamaican Police. 
 But on this occasion they had a particularly (indistinct) local commander who without 
really having any training in community policing just introduced a new approach and this was 
partly based on police visibility, there were constant patrols, but it seems to have been 
primarily based upon an attitudinal change of the police just treating local people with respect, 
talking to them, engaging with them, asking how they are and, as you say, that leads over time 
quite quickly to a better flow of information. 
 And so on the one hand they managed to engage local people and made them feel 
more secure.  On the other hand, they managed to engage the gangs and they just dealt with 
them on a regular basis, they organised football matches with the local youth.  Dominoes 
tournaments, which is a big thing in Jamaica, playing dominoes, and they managed to win the 
trust of both sides in this – you know, what was called locally a war and quite quickly pacified 
the community and over a period of time the murder rate came down significantly and it got to 
a point when the community was lobbying the policing commissioner not to withdraw the 
mobile reserve and that’s what they could regular police return because they feared that they 
would go back to the previous sort of more antagonistic arrangement so I think that’s just a 
practical example as to where I’ve seen this type of approach actually have a benefit both in 
terms of reducing crime but also in terms of improving trust. 
MS BAWA:   One of the issues of big concern before this Commission is whether you call it 
mob justice or vigilantism or bundu courts or street justice, how much of that do you see in 
other jurisdictions? 
MR McLEAN:   Well, it can be a big problem, ja, I mean it’s happened in Jamaica on many 



occasions and it happens an awful lot in Kenya as well. 
MS BAWA:   And finally my last question, one of the things that …(intervention) 
COMMISSIONER:   Can we just pause there for a second?  Any thoughts on who one goes 
about policing in an environment where there are practices of vigilante violence? 
MR McLEAN:   It’s not a particular issue I have to say that I’ve researched in depth and I know 
that there are people you will call as witnesses who have so I won’t really – you know, I will 
bow to their judgment but a lot of it seems to be where the people can think that they can turn 
to the police and the police will actually perform a helpful role, do they feel able – do they – 
which I think has two dimensions. 
 One, they think that if they call the police the police will be able to do something.  But 
the other aspect is do they feel that they’re able to engage the police.  So they seem to be the 
two factors but you’ve got other witnesses who have looked into this in great depth and local 
context. 
MS BAWA:   Finally, you talk about the sharing of information  between the police giving the 
neighbourhood watches more briefings on local crime statistics but my question is a slightly 
different one. 
 One of the issues which have come with our previous witnesses is the availability of 
crime statistics six months after the fact.  How do you find the availability of crime statistics in 
other places like Jamaica or Kenya or Northern Ireland, do they make it available more 
regularly? 
MR McLEAN:   It’s often been a very sticky issue and I think still is in both Jamaica and Kenya 
actually in terms of the government being – governments I guess on can generalise being 
nervous and police forces being nervous about releasing figures which they think could paint 
them in a bad light both nationally with their domestic audience and internationally and so, you 
know, there’s a worry about impact on, you know, tourism and international relations as well 
as, you know, being seen as not being able to have a control on crime. 
 So it’s something which, you know, a lot of countries have tried to address.  I mean, in 
Jamaica when I was – left they were trying to establish a crime observatory based on this Latin 
American model and I think your witness mentioned this yesterday where different agencies 
come together the health, the hospitals and the police, they share information  and they try and 
come up with one united statistic about murders and shooting because often one find in 
Jamaica that the hospital figures are much higher than the police figures because, you know, 
at the end of the day if you’ve been shot you do want medical attention but you wouldn’t 
necessarily report it to the police. 
 So steps were being taken to try and do that but I think it’s always a sensitive issues. 
But I think in terms of the local patrols and the other aspects of your question you wouldn’t 
need to be giving out, you know, actual numbers.  What I think could be beneficial is just being 
saying well, we’ve notices in the last couple of weeks there’s a lot of criminal activity going on 
around the bus park or, you know, wherever it is, the shebeens are on this street and therefore 
we suggest that that is the area where you focus, would seem to me to be something which 
would have a positive impact. 
MS BAWA:   Maybe a follow on question, it’s been suggested to us that the regular release of 
crime statistics more often that the annual statistic that comes out is a tool that can be used in 
the fight against crime and the Bogota example was quoted to us as being a means by which – 
it was one of the factors that assisted in bringing the murder rate down.  Do you have any 
comment on that? 



MR McLEAN:   I would certainly agree with that and I think one could draw a distinction maybe 
between different levels at which information can be made public and the purposes for which it 
can be used. 
 So, for example, in Jamaica there was a – in Kingston which is, you know, the capital 
city where – which is one of the main centres of criminal activity and in Western Kingston 
where a lot there are a lot of gangs operating the police did meet with civil society 
organisations on a monthly basis and did talk at that level, about the number of murders which 
there had been in the past month and where they were and they began to do this at a hotspot 
in the community of where murders and shootings were using the kind of GIS maps which you 
have on the wall here and they became – I mean, I don’t think they quite got to the point where 
they were as useful as they potentially could have been, to be quite frank but they at least 
began to have confidence in their local partners that they could release that information. 
 The university was involved in plotting that and using these maps and the police said 
that they then used them to help inform their operations.  To the extent to which they did, I’m 
not quite so sure and the hope was that they would also then inform the targeting of social 
interventions.  I don’t think we quite got to that stage. 
 But I think you can draw a distinction between information being available at that level 
for practical purposes and the national release of statistics which, you know, they worried 
about will be picked up in the media. 
COMMISSIONER:   I mean, one of the things that seems to drive the anxiety about the 
national crime stats is this perception or expectation of suggestion that there’s a very – the 
police’s job is to stop crime and that seems to me – pretty well everybody has come here and 
said that’s fallacious and it’s not only the police who are involved in stopping crime, etcetera, 
but – and I do think that’s part of the South African national discourse in a sense, okay, so 
murder has gone up, so what are the police doing and it’s true that there are more policable 
crimes and so on but it comes back to the sort of measurement and in a sense determining of 
what the task of SAPS is perhaps we’ve taken some emphasis away from, you know, 
reduction in crime rates or “crime prevention” and focus more on, you know, how effective they 
are in getting things to court whereas they have investigated in investigation levels and so 
rather than actually focusing entirely on crime statistics. 
MR McLEAN:   I agree certainly because I think one thing, you know, one has to be conscious 
of is that if community police relations improve you are likely to see the increase in reporting of 
crime and so you don’t want to create a sort of perverse incentive not introducing a particular 
policy because – so you would need to sort of prepare, you know, citizens for that and so I 
think then that means you can’t just use that as measure of police effectiveness, so as you say 
you have to be looking at how safe do local people feel as well as, you know, rates of 
victimisation which can be done through surveys rather than just relying on, you know, cases 
reported to the police which is a fairly crude and often inaccurate measure. 
COMMISSIONER:   I mean, that has been clearly said to us that actually what we should be 
looking at in Khayelitsha is an increase in reported crime rates because that would indicate a 
greater trust in the police, a more accurate reflection of actually what is happening. 
 It’s also been said to us that it’s – one can use murder as  a good proxy for crime rates 
because by and large it’s the one crime for which the consequences are clear and which there 
are bodies and so it’s very much less underreported and - you know, there’s a generally sort of 
bodies end up in morgues etcetera, etcetera, I mean is that an internationally accepted rule 
that murder is a good proxy? 



MR McLEAN:   Ja, ja, ja, and you know, domestic violence would be the one that one that, you 
know, which one, you know, would normally be most underreported. 
COMMISSIONER:   Yes and we have great difficulty understanding rape and sexual offences 
to the extent or underreporting is very difficult to determine and in the survey that we 
commissioned, didn’t come up – either of these came up very highly but again suggested to us 
by experts that that’s because it’s even people who are anonymously questioned in survey 
circumstances in public spaces will often not indicate that they’re subject to domestic violence 
or there is domestic violence in their household environment. 
MR McLEAN:   Ja, I think that’s probably fair. 
COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.  Anything further, Ms Bawa? 
MS BAWA:   Maybe one question which we hadn’t discussed but which just came to mind 
listening, one of the issues we’ve looked at is liquor and the relationship with the sales of liquor 
to crime and do you have any thoughts on how community policing can actually assist there? 
MR McLEAN:   It’s not something which I’ve got direct experience of but I know that in the 
Columbian example, restricting the sale of liquor was seen as being a key factor in reducing 
homicides, you know, when they did a sort of time an spatial analysis as to where murders and 
shooting took place it tended to be at sort of two o’clock in the morning on Friday and Saturday 
nights, you know, in or outside bars and so by regulating liquor sales and getting those 
establishments to close earlier they reduced violent crime.   
 Now I know it’s something which in the Khayelitsha context a lot of people have looked 
at in detail and I understand it’s slightly contested as to the impact that would have so whether 
it’s the experience that is transferable, I don’t know, but it’s obviously something that’s 
interesting to look at. 
COMMISSIONER:   Certainly, I mean the pattern of homicides you’ve described is very much 
the pattern that’s been described here by SAPS in particular but also by the actual crime stats 
research. 
MR McLEAN:   Ja, so I guess you don’t need to think about creative ways, I mean certainly I 
think I can see what would be antagonistic and I think it’s in Johnny Steinberg’s paper is that 
often the reports when the police do this they can do it in quite an abusive way that actually 
links to community relations worsening rather than improving, so you need to be conscious as 
opposed to the wider implications of a particular policy but I would hope that as trust builds and 
that relationship develops it’s able to be done in a less confrontational manner in a way in 
which you actually bring the owners of the establishments on board because, you know, at the 
end of the day I’m sure they don’t want people being shot on their premises. 
COMMISSIONER:   I mean, it’s interesting you formulate it like that because it seems to me at 
least, you know, as a working hypothesis that the very first thing is to start building trust, 
actually can’t do anything else until you start building trust and once you start building trust 
then you can start seeing what sort of possibilities is there are for in some kind of partnership 
way addressing things but if there’s no trust then pretty well everything you do is probably not 
going to be successful. 
MR McLEAN:   I think that’s true and sorry, it brings me back to a point to the advocate’s 
question which I don’t think I answered which is around the customer service training linked to 
this thing about procedural justice and the idea being that if you treat people fairly they 
respond well. 
 There was a study done with the police in Manchester in the United Kingdom last year 
where they gave a batch of officers training in sort of customer service skills and a batch that 



didn’t so there was a randomised control trial so very robust piece of research and what they 
found is that the officers who they gave the training to were more - had greater empathy for 
victims when they took their statements had a better attitude when they interacted with victims 
and the victims who they interacted with had a much better perception of the police afterwards 
than when they took the people who hadn’t received the training and again of course it’s very 
different context but I think does show that maybe that, which is quite a cheap intervention 
really could be an effective way of trying to reorientate police attitudes so I mean I would 
suggest that, you know it’s considered as a - you know, a potential quick win in the Khayelitsha 
context if, you know – and maybe you do it through – you train half the police in one station 
and half not and so the train the police in one of the sites but not in another, you could set it up 
as an evaluatable model but I think it is something which is, you know, potentially quite a high 
impact and low cost intervention. 
COMMISSIONER:   And one of the possibilities, you do it in Khayelitsha, we’ve got lots of 
other places around which we can measure after it’s been in Khayelitsha. 
MR McLEAN:   True, ja. 
MS BAWA:   There’s one thing I forgot to do, you provided us with a curriculum vitae and we 
won’t hold the fact that you were born in Liverpool against you but do you confirm the contents 
thereof as being correct? 
MR McLEAN:   I do. 
COMMISSIONER:   Injustice happens in the league. 
MR McLEAN:   I know, I know, I’m still recovering. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MS BAWA 
COMMISSIONER:   Okay, if there’s going to be questioning from the NGO, Ms Mayosi? 
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS MAYOSI:  Yes, I only have one question or one issue really to 
pick your brain on, Mr McLean and that’s the issue of neighbourhood watches.  They exist in 
Khayelitsha and they seem to be an important component in community policing but the 
evidence that’s been before the Commission is that they’re not well-supported by whoever 
should be supporting them be it the City, be it the Department of Safety be it the police. 
 Now can you just talk about the kind of support that neighbourhood watches in order to 
be effective you would recommend that they have because typically the neighbourhood 
watches in Khayelitsha operate in quite – you know, they do their patrols in quite difficult 
dangerous circumstances, it’s informal settlements, and some areas are not well lit, it’s 
obviously at night, there may be armed people that they can’t see properly and all of that.  
What do they need in that context, the neighbourhood watches, in order to be effective? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, I mean, I read the different testimonies about this with some interest and I 
mean, I stress I don’t have direct experience of the Khayelitsha situation but I’ve gleaned, you 
know, some understanding from some of the evidence you’ve received and the impression that 
I got is that there’s quite a distance at the moment between the neighbourhood watches and 
the police and the police have a sort of hands off approach.  
 If that’s the case – and I also recognise that there have been reports that on occasions 
some of these neighbourhood watches have committed human rights abuses. It seems to me 
that the current situation isn’t really benefiting anybody because if the neighbourhood watches 
appear to be a well-established in Khayelitsha they’re going to continue, my impression is 
whatever happens, and so the important thing I would think would be to try and bring them 
within the regulatory framework and establish some police oversight of them.  So by doing so 
you would hopeful increase their effectiveness in crime prevention, you would hopefully 



increase their accountability for their actions and therefore decrease the risk of human rights 
abuses and you would also provide an additional means of information for the police to inform 
their work in, you know, crime fighting and I think that would required briefings, you know, 
before the patrol, you know, as we are talking about, where are the main sort of crime hotspots 
and in particular things to look out for on this occasion, it would involve I think some 
communications equipment, whether it be cell phones or radios so that if a crime is witnessed 
they’re able to quickly inform the police and if you don’t have that obviously the risk is that it’s 
almost encouraging the watches to take actions into their hands because they don’t have a 
means of trying to get the police there quickly. 
 You would need to have some police response, capacity available, when crimes are 
reported and then I think you would need some kind of debriefing or reporting back and I 
understand that VPUU already captures reports but their  testimony  said that these often 
aren’t taken seriously. Now I don’t know whether that’s the case or not but if it is the case then 
it would seem to me that that’s maybe a missed opportunity, you can’t necessarily take 
everything at face value but you at least have to consider the information. 
MS MAYOSI:   Would it be appropriate for the neighbourhood watch patrollers to have any 
weapons on them? 
MR McLEAN:   I would suggest not, no.  No. 
MS MAYOSI:   Not even things such as batons, whatever they call them? 
MR McLEAN:   It’s a difficult issue but I think if you issue people with batons I would suggest 
they more likely to use them and then you have to think about whether that’s actually the 
outcome that you want so I would suggest that they should be kept as an unarmed, you know, 
sort of crime prevention tool.  
 I mean, I think the way that the women from VPUU who testified put it, I thought it was 
good, you know, they certainly a deterrence mechanism, they’re not really there to be, you 
know, locking people up.  Ja. 
MS MAYOSI:   And just one last point on that issue of procedural justice, I mean it seems 
intuitively to be an issue that makes sense that if you relate with people in a particular way, you 
know, they will also respond to you in that way but in your experience in working in working 
with the different police forces all over the world do you find that it’s something that they regard 
as a soft issue or is it something that is elevated into an important strategic issue that it is? 
MR McLEAN:   I think it’s something that’s often just not considered, actually, I think it’s 
something which – unless it’s sort of presented to you, although it might be common sense, I 
think often just doesn’t occur, people think that the main thing that people are interested in is 
crime fighting and the police being there, you know, investigating cases and locking people up.  
Now obviously that’s a very important part of the policing function but what’s interesting is that 
it’s not the sole determinant to people’s perceptions about police legitimacy and so I think it’s 
undervalued aspect actually. 
MS MAYOSI:   So do you typically evolve a really paradigm shift in the culture of a police 
force? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes. 
MS MAYOSI:   In order to elevate into strategic issue? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes. 
MS MAYOSI:   And what’s your view about the importance – or it’s an obvious to one to me 
about the importance of being able to communicate with a community in the language that that 
community speaks.  I say this because it’s come up sometimes as being one of the limitations 



in the effectiveness of the police or detectives at the very least that, you know, that the 
language that’s spoken is isi-Xhosa and there may be some difficulties or limitations there, 
wouldn’t you say that that’s an obvious sort of easy win? 
MR McLEAN:   Ja, I would say that would be fundamental.  I mean – and on two counts.  One, 
from just a personal interaction and the trust building point if you have someone who speaks 
your language you identify with them a bit more and you’re more likely to trust them but on the 
second things from an evidential point of view if you’re taking a statement in a language which 
you don’t fully understand, you’re less likely to grasp the detail and obviously that can then 
have an negative on the justice that is received. 
MS MAYOSI:   I don’t have any other questions, Madame Chair. 
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MS MAYOSI 
COMMISSIONER:   Thanks, Ms Mayosi.  Mr Arendse? 
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ARENDSE:   Thank you, Madame Chair.  Mr McLean, I’m not 
going to discuss Jamaica and in particular Montego Bay with you we’ll have to do that after 
hours. 
MR McLEAN:    You must come for the cricket. 
MR ARENDSE:  No, fascinating, fascinating place, I’m talking about the cricket. 
MR McLEAN:   Ja. 
MR ARENDSE:  I’ve got – I want to explore two very important statements I thought you make 
and which hopefully all of us will take on board and then three questions.  I’m trying to be a lot 
more crisp today. 
 The two statement and they related – the one on procedural justice where I recorded 
you to say that people tend to judge police how they are treated rather than outcomes and 
then the other statement reducing crime rates and improving trust. 
 Now are they mutual reinforcing or can they operate separately and then at some point 
meet where I think your evidence was that the Jamaica experience over time as trust improved 
the crime rates did reduce? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, I think could probably do both, I think they could operate independently so 
– I mean would see building trust and legitimacy as being an important end in itself as well as 
being as a means to an end so I think if you achieve that, you’ve done a lot. 
 I think also it – what this evidence indicates is that yes, over time it can also be linked to 
a reduction in crime because if you increase that legitimacy in the police people are more likely 
to cooperate with the police, they are more likely to provide information and they’re also 
interestingly in that research more likely to just obey the law voluntarily, they are more likely to 
see the law as legitimate and the police as a sort of a legitimate actor, legitimately enforcing 
the law. So it might be lead some sort of self-regulation in behaviour. 
MR ARENDSE:  Yes because from my client, the police, what I want to engage you on is that 
say for example if this model that we’ve been talking about, the Holtman Plan, which it seems 
to me you would also endorse with the kind of principles that you’ve outlined in your report.  It’s 
not inconceivable or inconsistent with there being high levels of crime or high crime but at the 
same time you make a start and you improve your relationship with the community in terms of 
– even if it’s just in terms of understanding why there are high levels of crime because I think 
you may have read in terms of preparing to give your evidence that there are certain difficulties 
not unique to Khayelitsha but unique to many – all of our townships through the country that is 
going to make it very difficult to bring down the statistics but at least you are beginning to 
engage with the community and then hopefully you work through it and over time there are 



high levels of cooperation, you don’t have to rely on the system of informers and people are 
just coming forward. 
MR McLEAN:   Definitely, I mean I think that’s exactly right and I think what is also done is it 
can buy you a bit of time so if you can improve that trust and legitimacy, if you’re also able to 
engage some of the social agencies as I think in this plan is suggested, those interventions are 
very important to be addressing some of the root causes of crime but they can take a little 
while to have an impact and so if you’re able to gain that trust and legitimacy you give yourself 
a little bit of space hopefully for those interventions hopefully for those interventions to then get 
underway. 
MR ARENDSE:  Because I speak unmandated and with no instructions on this because it 
seems to me also that if you use – and it’s been asked of you that – and also the 
Commissioner presiding – the use of crime stats as a measurement of performance can also 
be a be blunt instrument against the police themselves.  Would you agree with that? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes I would, yes. 
MR ARENDSE:  Because it seems to me that where, for example, a police officer, a detective 
sitting with a high number of dockets like they do in Khayelitsha and the case is taking long for 
him to solve this crime or to bring it to court but he is constantly communicating with the victims 
or with the survivors and the family and just telling them what is happening, he is having a 
difficulty, he is looking for a witness, the witness cannot be found, is very difficult to find, it 
seems to me that goes a long way also towards instilling confidence in the victims of crime and 
in the community as opposed to him now being assessed at the end of the day and say well, 
your conviction rate is 8, 9%, you’re a poor detective. 
MR McLEAN:   I think this communication issue is absolute vital because if that communication 
doesn’t happen I think what tends to take place is that people become suspicious, if that 
detective isn’t giving that feedback to that victim, the natural assumption is that they’re not 
doing their job, they’re not following it up whereas you say there may be perfectly good 
reasons, there may be a delay in the court, they may not have the witness, whatever for it, but 
at least if you’re proving that feedback and from what I’ve seen from the testimonies that the 
problem that that feedback hasn’t always been as forthcoming as it might.  I think you’d go a 
long way to building that trust 
 I mean, providing information as to what has been done to reduce crime I think it can 
help a lot even in the context where crime is necessarily reducing. 
MR ARENDSE:  Because I think if we also overcome this - you know, there seems to be an 
official resistance to releasing crime stats and there’s this debate which should be annually – 
should it be quarterly, month and all the – it would also go a long way towards addressing that 
issue that if you – you don’t have to fear then releasing crime stats because as things stand at 
the moment, crime stats are released and if high levels are indicated then immediately the 
police are judged and they’ll say well, high murder rate, high robbery, bad police. 
MR McLEAN:   Hm. 
MR ARENDSE:  Inefficient police. 
MR McLEAN:   Hm. 
MR ARENDSE:  Is that your sense? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, I think that’s true and I think the more in which you can bring together 
different indicators as a way of balancing that the better.   
 So, for example, I was reading in the testimony I think from VPUU, one of the witnesses 
was saying that their track of surveys of public opinion show that actually safety – people’s 



perceptions of safety have improved in Khayelitsha over the last three years, clearly not the 
level where one would like them to be but they have improved and so in sort of broader based 
community safety plan I think you would need to have a range of indicators which should be 
tracking that crime reduction and that safety of which obviously crime stats would be one but 
they would be one in a number. 
MR ARENDSE:  Now I don’t know if you had an opportunity in preparing your report and 
preparing to give evidence today whether you had an opportunity to look at role of the 
Department of Community Safety and their function in terms of our constitution, Section 205 of 
our constitution and to compare that with the social development commission which you 
referred to which has a joint responsibility with the police to implement community policing.  Is 
that – did you have an opportunity of doing so and should we do so and see whether we can 
explore whether there’s any commonality? 
MR McLEAN:   Yes, I think it would be good to explore. I have looked at the mandate of the 
Department of Community Safety, I don’t have it in front of me but you can refresh me if you 
have it there, but I think it’s something that would be important to look at and I think the more 
support which they can give to community policing the better and I think that’s something 
which has been recommended in studies in South Africa for a while is that government needs 
to provide – not to the police but the broader range of civilians out of government needs to 
actually be proving more support to these structures. 
MR ARENDSE:  I think we should just flag that.  The other issue that I wasn’t sure whether 
you’re aware from leading the evidence that there’s a certainly a memorandum of 
understanding between the police and the Provincial Department of Health I think in relation to 
forensic services and I may have just lost you but were you talking about a sort of broader 
memorandum of understanding between the police and community organisations or other 
government agencies? 
MR McLEAN:   I was specifically talking about a memorandum of understanding between the 
police and another agency to support implementation of community policing.  I was thinking 
that that other agency would need to be one that had a capacity to mobilise communities 
identified which the most appropriate of representative community structures and be sort of 
help get the communities to interface with the police. 
 Now you would be in a better position to judge whether that’s the department for social 
development or it’s a NGO or who is better placed in your context.  That what I was thinking 
but when it comes to service level agreements I think what would also be important is that if a 
community safety plan is developed – and I again I go back to my experience in Jamaica 
where we did this – where it failed was where these plans were essentially developed by the 
police or civil society or a security agency themselves and roles are assigned to other 
agencies, so it’s like okay well, we need to be doing something in schools, Minister of 
Education do that for us and I think it’s a big difference in that and actually getting the key 
stakeholders around a table and all agreeing yes, I can do this, I can do this and I will use my 
budget for this because from my experience what commonly happens all too easily if – and I 
don’t know enough about the – I’m not saying that this has been the case with the plan which 
SAPS commissioned which I think, you know, looks very promising but what can often happen 
is that these plans get overambitious and we all have good ideas about what we think other 
actors should do but those, when it actually comes down it, those other departments are 
reluctant to implement with their own money if they have been involved in the decision-making 
process and so I think what is vital is that from – I mean soft of learn this from experience 



myself, I think small was often better and the plans have to be very tightly linked to the 
allocation of resources and so the leader has be a - you know, an agreement from on high that 
each department is mandated and obliged to provide a certain amount of their own budget to 
address these issues or this plan or the plan has to be just based upon what those 
departments have the will voluntarily to commit to because otherwise you end up with an 
aspirational plan which often gets difficult to implement and then people get disheartened and 
the forums lose their kind of traction and from when the previous witness was talking about the 
Community Safety Forum he wasn’t being a waste of time, I wondered whether that was the 
problem is it was a talk shop rather than actually being a coordination forum for delivering an 
agreed set agenda by a number of agencies to address a particular plan and I think that’s the 
key issue that one has to get right and, you know, the more tightly you can bind those 
government departments in whether it’s to a service level agreement, whether it’s just a 
political commitment from on high, you’ve obviously got the challenge of having these 
concurrent constitutional responsibilities which has to be managed but it has to be as tight as 
possible or else these tend not to be implemented. 
MR ARENDSE:  And just lastly, you looked our current model of Community Police Forums 
and whether the scorecard, the community scorecard would be a useful tool for – even with the 
CPFs because some of the changes that have been recommended by experts like yourself 
who has been sitting there involved legislative changes so presumably it’s going to take time 
but sort of immediately, almost immediately Community Police Forums can use the scorecard 
because then at least it will provide some focus. 
MR McLEAN:   Exactly, ja.  And I would suggest that you need that combination of 
approaches.  Clearly there will be longer term things which may require legislative change but I 
would imagine it’s very important in the aftermath of the Commission some things happen very 
quickly on the ground which can demonstrate to people that things are happening, things are 
changing, otherwise people tend to lose hope, oh it’s was another talk shop which, you know, 
and nothing’s changed so the more you can, I think of think of symbolic things which have 
some visibility in a community whether it’s clearing up public spaces, whether it’s painting 
police stations, whether it’s, you know, radio broadcasts, you know, football matches between 
the police and the community, some very high visibility low cost things, I would suggest are 
important but then some things like potentially the scorecard where you’re actually giving 
people an opportunity to vocalise their views and opinions and the police are being seen to 
listen to those and react to them, I think will be very helpful. 
MR ARENDSE:  Thank you.   
NO FURTHER QUESTIONS BY MR ARENDSE 
COMMISSIONER:   Thanks, Mr Arendse.  Ms Bawa, in re-examination nothing?  Well thank 
you very much indeed, Mr McLean, for your report and your testimony this morning, it’s been a 
great assistance and we thank you for coming all the way here.  You may now stand down. 
MR McLEAN:   Thank you. 
 


